ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. 	 The circuit court erred by permitting a police officer to testify concerning 

historical cell site location data as a lay witness even though his testimony 

depended on specialized knowledge and hearsay information. 


II. 	 The State committed prosecutorial misconduct by misstating the evidence in 

closing argument and misleading the jury into an impermissible inference. 

The DNA random match probability was only admissible for the non

substantive purpose of explaining the expert's conclusion. 


STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Introduction 

A Berkeley County jury convicted Petitioner of felony murder without the possibility of 

parole and conspiracy to commit robbery for the homicide ofMichael Garcia, a local drug dealer. 

Appendix Record (A.R.) 859-60. Petitioner argues that to secure this conviction, the State had to 

corroborate witness testimony of dubious credibility by misusing forensic evidence, implying 

and even explicitly arguing conclusions not supported by the underlying science. She therefore 

respectfully requests that this Court reverse her conviction and remand the case for a new trial. 

B. The State Introduced Evidence 	that Petitioner and a Co-Defendant Robbed and 
Killed a Drug Dealer. 

In the light most favorable to the prosecution, the State introduced evidence that 

Petitioner, co-defendant Vincent "Scotty" Smith, co-defendant Jucobe Jolmson1, and State's 

witness LaQuadia Grant were driving around Martinsburg on September 14, 2014, selling 

heroin. A.R. 386-90. They ran out of drugs and Ms. Grant arranged via cell phone to get more 

from the decedent. A.R. 391. They agreed to meet at Davon Adams' apartment. A.R. 393. 

When they arrived, Mr. Adams' children were present. A.R. 396, 496. Ordinarily this did 

I The State indicted co-defendant Jucobe only as an accessory. A.R. 943. The jury acquitted him 
of that charge. A.R. 859. 
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not hamper drug sales; Mr. Adams routinely pemlitted the decedent to conduct drug transactions 

in his laundry room, out of sight of his children. A.R. 496. Petitioner pulled Mr. Adams aside 

privately and explained this was not a normal transaction. Id. The plan was to take the drugs, and 

Petitioner told Mr. Adams to kick them out to protect his children. Id. He did so. A.R. 496-97. 

At this point, the group broke up. In his work vehicle, a Cadillac Escalade, the decedent 

drove Petitioner and co-defendant Scotty around the block to an underdeveloped subdivision 

named Technology Drive. See A.R. 291-92. Ms. Grant and co-defendant Jucobe remained in 

Petitioner's car, parked near Mr. Adams' apartment. A.R. 398. A few minutes later, Petitioner and 

Scotty ran back to the car. A.R. 399. Scotty had a gun in his hand. Id. Petitioner did not have a 

gun, but according to Ms. Grant, Petitioner indicated that she shot the decedent. A.R. 398-99. 

C. Credibility was a significant trial issue for the State's fact witnesses. 

If believed, this evidence was sufficient for a rational jury to conclude beyond a 

reasonable doubt that Petitioner was guilty of felony murder, incident to a robbery. However, as 

the State recognized, in terms of persuasion it had a credibility problem. A.R. 282-83, 801-02, 

803-04, 852. The above narrative depended almost entirely on the believability of State's witness 

LaQuadia Grant, and to a lesser extent that of Davon Adams. A.R. 385-406, 490-500. Both 

witnesses admitted to heroin abuse - I\1s. Grant for fifteen years and Mr. Adams for seven. A.R. 

471, 503. Mr. Adams testified he had been clean for one month following his release from jail, 

where he served time for shoplifting to fuel his addiction. A.R. 503. 

Ms. Grant still used heroin. A.R. 472. She admitted to using the day before trial, but not 

on either day that she testified. Id. She said she used to be addicted, but was not any longer and 

she could safely use heroin. Id. Mr. Adams testified that this was impossible. A.R. 504. Addiction 

is a lifelong issue and one cannot go from a habitual user to an occasional user - if an addict uses 
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at all, the cravings require daily maintenance. Id. 

Mr. Adams testified that he did not have any heroin the day of the transaction, and was 

therefore sick from opioid withdrawal. Id. When Mr. Adams spoke to the police, he did not 

indicate Petitioner or the Co-defendants intended to take anything from the decedent. See A.R. 

508-09. He said the same thing to the defense investigator. A.R. 757. His trial testimony was the 

first time the defense heard evidence concerning a plot to steal from the decedent. A.R. 724, 757. 

Ms. Grant could not rule out being high on heroin on the day of the homicide or during 

her police statement. A.R. 475. She testified that heroin does not affect her perceptions or 

truthfulness, because she snorts it rather than taking it intravenously. !d. Nonetheless, Ms. 

Grant's testimony was often confused. See, e.g., A.R. 390,484. She testified that the defendants 

wanted to unload their heroin supply to the decedent, and moments later, said they intended to 

buy from him. A.R. 391. She said she did not tell anyone that day what happened, then testified 

she told her mother "immediately." A.R. 402-03. She described herself as an addict, and then 

denied being addicted. A.R. 471, 472. Finally, Ms. Grant admitted she based some of her 

testimony on post hoc inference and speculation rather than personal experience. See A.R. 397, 

469, 480-84. She did not witness Petitioner or co-defendant Scotty get into the Escalade. A.R. 

397,469,480. She did not see them drive away. Id. She had no knowledge that the SUV or its 

alleged occupants ever left; she thought the drug transaction took place on the street outside Mr. 

Adams' apartment. A.R. 480-84. 

A police officer for the State inadvertently testified to a motive for Ms. Grant and Mr. 

Adams to minimize their involvement and maximize others' culpability. He described heroin 

withdrawal as "like the flu times ten." A.R. 374. Addicts will do anything to avoid incarceration 

because they cannot use opioids to put off withdrawal. Id. The defendants did not know the 
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decedent and vice-versa, so according to Ms. Grant, she arranged the entire transaction. A.R. 

391-92. Without Ms. Grant's involvement with the defendants, there is no drug transaction, 

robbery, or homicide for the State's theory of the case. See id. Even though the decedent did not 

promise her anything, Ms. Grant anticipated remuneration as a matter of custom. A.R. 470-71, 

485. Without Ms. Grant's involvement with the police, the State admitted it had no case at all. 

A.R. 812. The indictment only charged Petitioner, co-defendant Scotty, and Co-defendant 

Jucobe. A.R. 941-43. It did not charge LaQuadia Grant. Id. 

Although inessential to prove the above narrative, other State fact witnesses also suffered 

from credibility problems. When the police first responded to the 911 call, they arrived at the 

homicide scene to find Anthony Branson, who, with his fiance, employed the decedent and 

owned the Cadillac Escalade. A.R. 290-91, 320. The decedent also lived with Mr. Branson and 

his fiance. A.R. 289. Mr. Branson told the police he discovered the decedent's body and flagged 

down a motorist to call 911. A.R. 302. The police asked Mr. Branson how he arrived at the scene 

to discover the body. Id. Mr. Branson responded that he could not remember. Id. One officer 

recalled Mr. Branson saying he received a phone call, but that Mr. Branson would not say from 

whom. A.R. 363. The police detained Mr. Branson while they processed the scene, conducted a 

gunshot residue test on his hands, and went to get an independent statement from his fiance. A.R. 

363-64. They also checked Mr. Branson's body for defensive wounds. A.R. 364. 

The police took Mr. Branson to the police station where they confronted his memory loss 

with incredulity and a contrary statement from his fiance. A.R. 363-64. Only at this point did Mr. 

Branson admit he had been dishonest. /d. He explained that the decedent's twin brother, Justin, 

came to Mr. Branson's home and told him that the decedent was hurt. A.R. 292. The two drove 

back to the homicide scene in Justin's vehicle. Id. Justin left, and Mr. Branson lied about finding 
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the decedent for "at least" four or five hours while Justin fled. A.R. 295, 304, 363-64. 

At trial, Justin submitted to police authority and testified. See A.R. 325-26. However, on 

the day he found the decedent's body, he was still a wanted fugitive. A.R. 328, 332. He testified 

that he happened to be driving on a highway perpendicular to Technology Drive. A.R. 326. As 

Justin passed through the intersection at 40-45 miles per hour, he glanced down Technology 

Drive and saw the Escalade 350 yards away (Justin estimated 150 yards, a police officer 

confirmed the distance was "roughly" 350 yards). Compare A.R. 337-38 with A.R. 665. He said 

he recognized it as his brother's vehicle. A.R. 326. He could not articulate any distinguishing 

feature between it and any other Escalade, let alone one noticeable from 350 yards away while 

passing at highway speeds. A.R. 338. Justin testified he backtracked to see why his brother's 

vehicle was parked on Technology Drive, and then discovered the decedent, already dead. A.R. 

326-27. The decedent's pockets were turned inside out and he had no wallet, phone, or drugs; 

Justin said he was like that when he found him. A.R. 339. 

Justin testified he wanted to get help, and intended to drive to a nearby gas station. A.R. 

327. Instead, he accidentally pulled into a bank parking lot. ld. He circled the parking lot a 

couple times before deciding to go to Mr. Branson's home. ld. Justin denied being on drugs when 

this happened, but admitted to drug abuse. A.R. 330, 334. At the time of trial, he had outstanding 

charges from at least three Maryland counties relating to theft, cashing stolen checks, and driving 

on a suspended license. A.R. 332-33. He estimated twenty charges in total. A.R. 333-34. 

The State admitted in both opening and closing that the jury may have trouble believing 

the fact witnesses. A.R. 282-83, 801-02, 803-04, 852. Mr. Branson's and Justin's testimony was 

so compromised by deception that the State felt it necessary to ask them on the stand whether 

they killed the decedent. A.R. 298, 332. 
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D. 	The State needed Forensic Evidence to Corroborate its Fact Witnesses, but Most 
Physical Evidence was Inconclusive. 

To address this credibility problem, the State turned to physical evidence to provide 

corroboration, but most of it was also unhelpful. No one in this case tested positive for gunshot 

residue. A.R. 945. The police could not locate any testable fingerprints. A.R. 944. The police did 

not recover any shell casings from the scene. A.R. 850. By analyzing bullet fragments, the police 

narrowed the ammunition down to what it called the ".38 caliber family," and the police found 

bullets within this category in Petitioner's backpack. A.R. 379, 946-47. However, this category 

includes several common bullets: .357 Magnum, .38 Special, .38 Super Auto, .9mm Glisenti, and 

.9mm Luger. A.R. 948. By examining rifling patterns, the police opined that two different guns, 

both in the .38 caliber family, had been used to shoot the decedent. A.R. 462-63. The police 

could only narrow the list of possible handguns to 142 different models - none of which were 

recovered from Petitioner or either co-defendant. A.R. 949-57; see A.R. 459-60. 

E. The Circuit 	Court Permitted the State to Introduce Analysis of Cell Tower Data 
through a Lay Police Officer, and Prohibited the Defense Expert from Directly 
Commenting upon the Officer's Testimony. 

The State also sought to introduce historical cell site data purporting to link the 

defendants to the vicinity of the homicide scene. See A.R. 965. The State indicated in its 

Designation of Experts that it would call an RF engineer to discuss the cell tower locations, the 

data collected from them, and the science and technology underlying cell towers. Id. However, 

the State never called its engineer. See A.R. 650. Instead, the State called Berkeley County 

Sheriff's Deputy Corporal Christian, an investigating officer, to offer the testimony as a lay 

witness. See A.R. 543. The lay officer also reduced his findings to a map he made by applying 

cartographic software to the data he received from the network engineers A.R. 998. The defense 
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objected that in fonn, this was expert testimony, and in substance, it was inaccurate insofar as it 

implied the defendants were near the homicide scene even though the underlying engineering did 

not support this conclusion. A.R. 542-43, 545. The defense argued WVRE 702 prohibited the 

testimony unless the State brought forward an expert qualified to discuss these matters. Id. 

The State did not argue the officer had the qualifications to testify as an expert. A.R. 543

44. Rather, the State argued WVRE 702 did not apply because it was lay testimony. See id. It 

argued that the investigating officer did not require any specialized knowledge to instruct jurors 

on how to interpret network engineering data, define industry tenninology, give times and tower 

names for the cell phone connections, or use computer software to map tower locations with 

respect to the homicide scene. Id. The circuit court allowed the testimony to go forward, 

effectively ruling the State did not need an expert, despite acknowledging it did not know what 

Corporal Christian's testimony would be. A.R. 545-46. It therefore conducted no analysis under 

WVRE 702 to detennine its admissibility. See id. Notwithstanding its ruling that this was lay 

testimony, the court further ruled that the defense could call an expert to refute the investigating 

officer. Id. 

The gist of Corporal Christian's testimony was that Call Detail Records he received from 

telecommunication network engineers showed the defendants' phones connecting to four cell 

towers surrounding the crime scene at times consistent with the State's timeframe for the 

homicide. See A.R. 606, 998. To reach this conclusion, he first had to determine which cell 

connections were texts, and which were voice conversations. The Call Detail Records do not 

distinguish the two on their face; "typically" texts have a zero duration value and calls do not. 

A.R. 608. Corporal Christian did not explain atypical situations. See id. Also not apparent from 

the face of the records, Corporal Christian testified that they display timestamps for calls in 
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Central Standard Time and text messages in Eastern Time. A.R. 609-10, 623-24. After adjusting 

timestamps to a common time zone, he could determine which calls were relevant to his 

investigation. See, e.g., 613. Relying on this analysis, Corporal Christian used cartographic 

software to reduce his findings to a map depicting an area south of Martinsburg approximately 

77.55 square miles in area. See A.R. 998. It shows the homicide scene roughly in the middle, 

surrounded by four cell towers. Id. To resolve a different evidentiary issue, the State agreed to 

introduce the map as a demonstrative exhibit. A.R. 637, 644. 

Corporal Christian also defined the terminology used in the Detail Call Records. He 

explained that "routed calls" are either 1) "a bridge or router number to complete a call," or 2) 

represent calls sent to voice mail. A.R. 620-21. He defmed "NEID" by saying it "reflects which 

network element handled the call." A.R. 625. The lay witness could not defme "CDR." A.R. 626. 

He defmed "azimuth" as "a coordinate and it is for purposes of cell phone mapping and it 

represents the median of the sector[.]" Id. When asked what "repoll" meant, he said it "reflects 

which phone switch handled the call," and then further elaborated, it is "internal to what their 

engineers and the company itself deals with." A.R. 628. The State asked its lay witness to define 

"beamwidth," and he responded "I don't think it's reflected in the definition page, as 1 recall. 

Based on the information that I received, the beamwidth is -- an engineer can speak more in 

depth about this -- basically from the tower, the width of the signal that one side of it would emit, 

so each side has its own specific beamwidth." 629. The defense renewed its objection twice 

throughout this testimony. A.R. 603, 629. 

The defense called an expert without challenge. A.R. 740-41. The defense expert began 

studying radio frequency engineering as a hobby as a teenager, and turned that into a career. A.R. 

740. He had thirty years of experience working on the technical side of telecommunications. 
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A.R. 739-40. He had a degree in computer science, and worked for AT&T for several years. A.R. 

739. He currently works in the field as a radio frequency engineer for Cherry Biometrics, and in 

that capacity has been qualified to testify as an expert in court previously. A.R. 740. His 

curriculum vitae lists additional credentials. A.R. 983. 

When the defense expert attempted to address Corporal Christian's findings, the State 

objected that the credibility ofhis testimony was an ultimate issue for the jury. A.R. 741-42. The 

circuit court sustained the objection, and thus limited the expert's testimony to the hypothetical 

instead of refuting directly the implications of Corporal Christian's testimony as embodied in the 

cell tower map. A.R. 742. 

As limited, the expert explained in the abstract that phones do not necessarily connect to 

the nearest tower; they connect to the tower with the best signal, and proximity is one of many 

factors. A.R. 742-43. For this reason, the towers a phone connects to do not indicate location 

except to within the full range of the tower's reception. See A.R. 743. The National Institute of 

Standards Technology states that as an industry standard, towers like those at issue can connect 

to phones anywhere within a 22.75 mile radius. Id. A properly prepared map should be scaled 

such as to show this full radius. Id. There is no way to know whether a phone connects close to 

the center or out towards the periphery of this range. A.R. 743-44. Had the State called an actual 

expert, he or she would have to concede that the area of a circle of radius 22.75 miles is 1625.97 

square miles.2 Because of the circuit court's ruling, the defense expert could not directly criticize 

Corporal Christian's work or his nine square mile map drawn outside NIST industry standards. 

2 The formula for a circle's area is A = rrr 2where A is the area and r is the radius. 
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F. 	 The Circuit Court Permitted the State to Argue a DNA Specimen found at the 
Homicide Scene Belonged to Co-Defendant Scotty, even though the State's Expert 
Testified the Relevant Scientific Standards Did Not Support This Inference. 

The State called a state police lab technician who tested a DNA specimen from the 

homicide scene against known samples from the defendants, as well as a sample from State's 

witness LaQuadia Grant. A.R. 413, 958-60. The technician conclusively excluded Petitioner. 

A.R. 959. However, she could not conclusively exclude co-defendant Scotty. Id., A.R. 425. The 

reason for her ambivalence is that although the specimen was partially testable, there was 

insufficient genetic material to run a full test. A.R. 426. 

The industry standard for testing checks fifteen loci throughout a sample's genome. A.R. 

435-36. One can then multiply the probabilities of each genetic marker's occurrence to arrive at 

the mathematical likelihood of an individual having that total pattern of fifteen markers, known 

as the "random match probability." A.R. 436. This is usually a number well in excess of one in a 

quadrillion chance, or 1 :1,000,000,000,000,000. Id. The lab technician did not give a precise 

figure, but this one in a quadrillion random match probability is the approximate industry 

threshold for making a positive identification. Id. 

In this case, the technician could only test nine of the fifteen loci. A.R. 426. As a result, 

she had fewer probabilities to mUltiply together, and could only testify to a one in 12.3 billion 

random match probability. A.R. 438. Within her field, this does not reach the threshold necessary 

to make an identification. A.R. 436. She therefore could not exclude co-defendant Scotty as she 

had Petitioner, but she also could not identify him from the specimen. A.R. 437. 

In rebuttal closing argument, the State argued that a one in 12.3 billion chance is unlikely 

enough to be a coincidence and that the jury should conclude co-defendant Scotty deposited the 

DNA sample at the homicide scene. A.R. 846-47. The defense objected that this was not the 
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evidence; the evidence showed that co-defendant Scotty could not be conclusively identified. Id. 

The circuit court overruled the objection. Id. 

ARGUMENT SUMMARY 

At trial, the State had a significant credibility problem with its fact witnesses. It therefore

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