PETITIONER'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE 
INVESTIGATING OFFICER'S READING OF THE DOCUMENTATION 
PROVIDED BY THE CELLULAR PHONE PROVIDER WHEN THE PARTIES 
HAD ALREADY STIUPULATED TO THE AUTHENTICATION AND 
ADMISSmILITY OF THE RECORDS? 

II. 	 WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S REMARKS IN CLOSING REGARDING 
THE DNA EVIDENCE SUBMITTED WERE PROPER?

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The circuit court did not err in allowing the investigating officer to read information 

contained in the documents provided by the cellular provider considering the parties had already 

stipulated to the authentication and admissibility of those records as well as the key outlining the 

interpretation of those records. While Cpl. Christian did give testimony and examples in order to 

assist the jury in interpreting the records once they retired to deliberate, his testimony was clearly 

based on a reading of the records in conjunction with the provided key. Also, while it is true that 

Cpl. Christian has experience and education in his role as an investigator in interpreting said 

records, he is allowed as a lay witness to provide information helpful to assist the trier of fact in 

consideration of the evidence. Finally, the parties agreed on the parameters of Cpl. Christian's 

testimony regarding the cellular phone records and the admissibility of that evidence during a 

sidebar. There was no error with the testimony of this witness. 
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Moreover, the Petitioner's expert witness testified and agreed with the testimony of Cpl. 

Christian but applied his technical knowledge to further explain the records to the jury. 

Therefore, even if the court allowing Cpl. Christian's testimony as a lay witness on certain points 

was in error, said error was harmless in light of the weight of the evidence and the surrounding 

circumstances, which demonstrate no prejudice to the Petitioner. 

Lastly, the prosecutor's comments regarding the DNA testing results in her closing 

argument were not in error, as she was permitted to make reasonable inferences based upon the 

sum of the testimony and evidence introduced. 

STATE:MENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The State avers that the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs 

and record on appeal and that the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral 

argument. As such, oral argument would be unnecessary in this matter pursuant to Rule 18. If, 

however, this Court were to fmd oral argument necessary, the State believes argument pursuant 

to Rule 19 would be appropriate. 

ARGUMENT 

I. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING TIlE INVESTIGATING 
OFFICER TO READ IN INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE DOCUMENTS 
PROVIDED BY THE CELLULAR PROVIDER CONSIDERING THE PARTIES 
HAD ALREADY STIPULATED TO THE AUTHENTICATION AND 
ADMISSmILITY OF TIlE RECORDS AND THE KEY OUTLINING 
INTERPRETATION OF THE RECORDS. 

A. Standard of Review 

The action of a trial court in admitting or excluding 
evidence in the exercise of its discretion will not be disturbed by 
the appellate court unless it appears that such action amounts to an 
abuse of discretion. 

Syl. Pt. 	1, State v. Harris, 216 W.Va. 237, 605 S.E.2d 809 (2004)(per curiam); Syl. Pt. 1, State v. 
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Calloway, 207 W.Va. 43,528 S.E.2d 490 (1999). 

" 'The determination of whether a witness has sufficient 
knowledge of the material in question so as to be qualified to give 
his opinion is largely within the discretion of the trial court, and 
will not ordinariI y be disturbed on appeal unless clearly 
erroneous.' Cox v. Galigher Motor Sales Co.. 158 W.Va. 685, 213 
S.E.2d 475 (1975)." Syllabus point 3, State v. Haller. 178 W.Va. 
642,363 S.E.2d 719 (1987). 

Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Jameson, 194 W. Va. 561,461 S.E.2d 67 (1995). 

B. Discussion 

The Petitioner ignores key facts in her discussion of this issue. 

First, the parties entered into a stipulation that "all cellular call records and NEID cell 

phone tower records are admitted without objection and may be used by any party without 

appearance of a records custodian." [ARI, 603.]1 The parties agreed that the records were 

admissible pursuant to W.V.R.E. 803 as records of regularly conducted business activity, and the 

parties further agreed that they were satisfied as to the authenticity of those records as what they 

were purported to be pursuant to W.V.R.E. 901 and 902. The evidence was admitted without 

any objection and referenced extensively by witnesses with no hearsay objections. [ARI, 607; 

ARI, passim.]2 These records included the cellular phone records connected to the particular 

numbers requested, a definitions key governing interpretation of the records, and the NEID cell 

tower location records. 

Second, Cpl. Christian offered no opinions in the course of his testimony. [ARI, 603

644.] Cpl. Christian only testified to facts as gleaned from the stipulated to records. He read 

portions of the records to the jury, defmed words and abbreviations for them using the supplied 

1 The parties further stipulated that certain phone nwnbers were associated withlbelonged to certain 

individuals involved in the case. [Id.l 

2 Generally, the failure to object constitutes waiver of a right to raise the matter on appeal. State v. 

Asbury, 187 W.Va. 87,91,415 S.E.2d 891, 895 (1992). 
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key, interpreted the meaning of the numbers given in the records also according to the supplied 

key, and gave the location of the cell phone towers that routed the calls according to the records. 

[Id.l He provided examples to the jury as to how to interpret the records so that when the jury 

retired to deliberate with the records they would more clearly understand how to use the 

provided key. [Id.l While it is true that Cpl. Christian formulated a map that included the 

location of these cell phone towers, he did so using the longitude and latitude coordinates 

indicated in the records. Furthermore, as a part of his investigation, he went to the coordinates 

and photographed the actual towers to confirm that the towers did, in fact, exist where indicated 

in the records. These photographs were admitted without objection from defense counsel. [ARI, 

Even if the Court [mds that Cpl. Christian's guidance to the jury on interpreting the 

stipulated to records using the key contained in those records constituted an opinion, this Court 

has found as follows: 

In order for a lay witness to give opinion testimony pursuant to 
Rule 701 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence (1) the witness 
must have personal knowledge or perception of the facts from 
which the opinion is to be derived; (2) there must be a rational 
connection between the opinion and the facts upon which it is 
based; and (3) the opinion must be helpful in understanding the 
testimony or determining a fact in issue. 

Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Nichols, 208 W. Va. 432, 541 S.E.2d 310 (1999), overruled on other grounds 

by State v. McCraine, 214 W. Va. 188, 588 S.E.2d 177 (2003). Furthermore, 

"It is firmly established in this state that the opinion of a witness 
who is not an expert may be given in evidence ifhe has some 

3 Cpl. Christian did offer testimony that as part of his investigation and review of the records he received 
in response to his requests, he called Sprint, which clarified that voice calls were reported in Central 
Standard Time while texts were reported in Eastern Standard Time. [ARI, 609-610; 623.] That 
information was not contained within the stipulated to records. However, that testimony was not objected 
to by counsel. [ld.] Again, the failure to object constitutes waiver of a right to raise the matter on appeal. 
State v. Asbury, 187 W.Va. 87, 91,415 S.E.2d 891,895 (1992). 
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peculiar knowledge concerning the subject of the opinion than 
jurors are ordinarily expected to have." Cochran v. Appalachian 
Power Co.. 162 W.Va. 86,246 S.E.2d 624 (1978). 

Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Haller, 178 W. Va. 642, 363 S.E.2d 719 (1987). 

Based upon Cpl. Christian's experience and education with regard to receiving and 

interpreting cellular phone records, he had valuable knowledge to assist the trier of fact in 

understanding the stipulated to cellular phone records. He requested and received the records 

from the provider and, therefore, personally perceived the same. His testimony explaining how 

to use the key accompanying those records and giving the jury an example to follow in their own 

review of the evidence was rational and helpful to understanding the evidence. 

Furthermore, and most significantly, during a sidebar, the parties came to an agreement 

with regard to the testimony introduced from Cpl. Christian. [ARl,633-638.] As Petitioner's 

counsel phrased it, the parties "did a deal." [ARI, 647.] At sidebar, the parties agreed that the 

State would excuse its expert, who was present and waiting to testify; no inquiries would be 

made by any party with regard to issues of bandwidth; the State's map would not be introduced 

into evidence; the State's map could be used as a simple demonstrative aid in conjunction with 

the admitted photographs of the actual towers taken by the officer in order to show only the 

locations of the cell phone towers in reference to the location of the crime scene. [ARI, 633

638.] 

The State's evidence with regard to the cell phone records was further clarified during the 

testimony of Sgt. Brendan Hall. Sgt. Hall testified very clearly that it could not be determined 

with absolute certainty who had made a calIon a particular cell phone; it could not be 

determined where a cell phone was located at any given time; and the tower records merely 
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indicated where the cell towers were located through which a particular call was routed. [ARI, 

699-701.] 

Moreover, Mr. Kennedy, the defense expert who testified at trial, agreed with Cpl. 

Christian's interpretation of the records concerning the location of the towers that routed the calls 

and agreed that the State's demonstrative map exhibit correctly plotted the location of those 

towers. [ARI, 746-747.] Mr. Kennedy similarly testified that the exact location of the phone 

(and so caller) could not be determined based upon the location of the towers that routed the 

calls. [ARI, 739-748.] He further added that a call is not always routed through the closest 

tower because a call searches for clarity and signal strength and not just the nearest tower. [ld.] 

He further opined that towers have an average signal radius of 22.75 miles, can overlap, and that 

a call originating in Martinsburg may be routed through a cell tower in Inwood depending on 

SINR values, which the stipulated to records do not show. [Id.] 

The Petitioner's brief completely ignores all of the above factors and, instead, insists that 

Cpl. Christian was required to be qualified as an expert witness even though the records he 

referenced were introduced by stipulation for use by either party waiving any arguments with 

regard to hearsay or authentication. [ARl,603.] The Petitioner also insists, despite the above 

cited precedent in the State of West Virginia, that any witness who offers any type of opinion 

evidence must be qualified as an expert. The State again notes, however, that Cpl. Christian 

merely used the key provided in the records in order to explain them. The Petitioner states that 

words like "azimuth" and "repoll" are not commonly understood, and, therefore, Cpl. Christian 

must have used specialized knowledge in order to be able to defme said terms. However, those 

words were specifically defmed in the key provided and admitted with the records and said key 

was clearly referenced and, in some cases, read verbatim by Cpl. Christian during his testimony. 
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[see ARI, 628 re: defining "repoll."] 

The Petitioner attempts to parallel the facts of this case with the case of State v. PaYne, 

104 A.3d 142 (Md. 2014). However, Payne is clearly distinguishable. The Court therein was 

careful to note that neither the entirety of the phone records nor the key supplied by the cellular 

phone company was admitted into evidence. The only documents offered for admission were 

created by the officer and objected to by the defense. Furthermore, the officer in Payne was 

collecting prospective data as well as obtaining historical data. Additionally, Maryland 

specifically holds that a police officer must be qualified as an expert whenever said officer relies 

upon their experience as an officer in offering an opinion in any case. See Ragland v. State, 870 

A.2d 609 (Md. 2(05). West Virginia has not so held. The largest distinguishing factor, 

however, is that the prosecutor used the testimony of the officer to argue in closing that his 

testimony showed the location of the defendant No one in the instant case claimed that the 

location of the cell phones or defendants could be determined through analysis of the provided 

cell phone records. Collins v. State, 172 So.3d 724 (Miss. 2006), is also easily distinguishable. 

In that case, the officer testified as to the service area of each of the antennas, testified as to the 

direction the cell phones were hitting the antennas, and specifically opined where the accused 

individuals were located based upon this data. Again, no one in this case claimed to be able to 

tell the location of the phones or defendants, but merely the towers off of which the calls made 

by those phones were routed. 

The facts of this case more closely resemble those cited by the Petitioner wherein the 

officer merely reads the records to the jury. Again, while Cpl. Christian did interpret the records, 

he did so using the key that was provided with the records and referenced that key in doing so. 

Furthermore, Cpl. Christian issued no opinion with regard to the location of the phones or callers 
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and, in fact, conceded that such information could not be determined from a review of the 

records. The information Cpl. Christian did provide apart from the key, such as the explanation 

for the timestamps being in different time zones and pictures of the actual cell towers, were 

obtained through further factual investigation undertaken after a reading of the records. Such 

information should be admissible from Cpl. Christian as a lay witness, and the State again notes 

that defense counsel did not object to his offering of that information. 

Finally, the Petitioner argues that Cpl. Christian not being qualified as an expert witness 

prevented the defense expert from criticizing Cpl. Christian's testimony. However, the 

Petitioner completely ignores that the defense expert, Mr. Kennedy, testified that he agreed with 

Cpl. Christian's assessment of the location of the cell towers through which the calls in question 

were routed. [ARI,746-747.] Mr. Kennedy offered expert testimony with regard to the signal 

radius of the cell towers (which Cpl. Christian could not and did not testify about as a lay 

person); the factors involved in which cell tower a call connects through (which Cpl. Christian 

could not and did not testify about as a lay person); and explained that a call is not always routed 

through the nearest tower in proximity due to those factors (which Cpl. Christian could not and 

did not testify about as a layperson). The Petitioner then attacks the map Cpl. Christian made to 

show the cell towers through which calls were routed but neglects to mention that the map was 

not introduced into evidence. Both Cpl. Christian and the expert witness testified that the cell 

towers that routed the calls were in close proximity to each other (and were accurately depicted 

on the map), but only the expert was qualified to and did testify as to the signal radius of each 

tower being 22.75 miles, meaning that all that could be determined was that the phone was 

somewhere within 22.75 miles of any side of the tower when the call was routed. 

Based upon a thorough review of the facts and circumstances present in this case, the 
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Court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the testimony of Cpl. Christian as a lay witness. 

State v. Harris, supra.; State v. Calloway, supra.; State v. Haller, supra.; State v. Jameson, supra. 

Additionally, even if this Court fmds that Cpl. Christian's testimony with regard to the 

cell phone records was in error, such error was harmless. 

Where improper evidence of a nonconstitutional nature is 
introduced by the State in a criminal trial, the test to determine if 
the error is harmless is: (1) the inadmissible evidence must be 
removed from the State's case and a determination made as to 
whether the remaining evidence is sufficient to convince impartial 
minds of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; (2) if the 
remaining evidence is found to be insufficient, the error is not 
harmless; (3) if the remaining evidence is sufficient to support the 
conviction, an analysis must then be made to determine whether 
the error had any prejudicial effect on the jury. 

Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Atkins, 163 W. Va. 502, 261 S.E.2d 55 (1979); see also State v. Guthrie, 194 

W.Va 657, 684-685, 461 S.E.2d 163, 190-191 (1995). 

There was sufficient evidence to support the Petitioner's conviction beyond a reasonable 

doubt without Cpl. Christian's testimony regarding the cell towers. 

Anthony Branson testified that the victim, Michael Garcia, was living with his family at 

the time of the murder. [ARI, 288-309.] Mr. Branson stated that Michael was also working for 

he and his wife's commercial cleaning business, and, as such, had access to the work truck (a

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